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(Attorney listing continued from first page) 

 
Daniel Werner (pro hac vice admission pending) 
Daniel.Werner@splcenter.org 
James M. Knoepp (pro hac vice admission pending) 
Jim.Knoepp@splcenter.org 
Jennifer Tse (SBN 260764, application for admission pending) 
Jennifer.Tse@splcenter.org 
IMMIGRANT JUSTICE PROJECT 
SOUTHERN POVERTY LAW CENTER 
233 Peachtree St. NE, Suite 2150 
Atlanta, Georgia  30303 
Telephone: (404) 521-6700 
Facsimile: (404) 221-5857 
 
Mary C. Bauer (pro hac vice admission pending) 
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Defendants”) and legal facilitators (referred to collectively as “Legal Facilitator 

Defendants”) who the Louisiana School Districts hired, as well as from one of their 

employers, the East Baton Rouge Parish School Board (“EBRPSB”), and agents of 

EBRPSB (referred to collectively as “Employer Defendants”), who were aware, or 

reasonably should have known of the Recruiter Defendants’ egregious conduct, and 

who took steps to ensure the trafficking scheme was viable.   

4. The Louisiana School Districts chose and retained Lourdes “Lulu” 

Navarro to recruit teachers from the Philippines.  The School Districts selected Ms. 

Navarro despite her prior conviction and imprisonme
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21. Defendant East Baton Rouge Parish School Board (“EBRPSB”) is 
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only;  

g. Defendant PARS entered into contracts with Plaintiffs and 

other Class Members that stated that Class Members would pay fees for certain 

items to PARS, but when those fees were paid, PARS issued receipts showing 

payment was made to Defendant Universal; and 

h. Defendant PARS collected money from Plaintiffs and other 

Class Members in the Philippines and issued receipts from both Defendant PARS 

and Defendant Universal. 

33. Alternatively, at some or all relevant times, Defendant Lourdes 

Navarro and Hothello Navarro were agents of Defendant PARS.  

34. At some or all relevant times, the Recruiter Defendants were agents of 

Employer Defendants in that they were charged with recruiting Filipino teachers on 

behalf of the Employer Defendants. 

35. Throughout this Complaint, Defendants Universal, Lourdes Navarro, 

Hothello Navarro, PARS, and Villarba are referred to collectively as “Recruiter 

Defendants.” 

Legal Facilitator Defendants  

36. Defendant Robert B. Silverman is an attorney who maintains his 

principal offices in Westminster, California, within the Central District of 
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43. This action involves a class represented by all Plaintiffs, referred to 

herein as “the Louisiana Teacher Class,” and a subclass represented by EBRPSS 
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b. Illegally enforcing contractual terms that are illegal, as set forth 

in the Seventh Claim for Relief;  

c. Illegally collecting fees prohibited under the law, as set forth in   e 
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Defendants during the period from January 1, 2007 through the present, and (ii) 

whose H-1B visa petition was executed by an agent of EBRPSS for employment at 

EBRPSS.  

59. 
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Defendants that deprived Plaintiffs and other EBRPSS Teacher Subclass members 

of their right to be free from forced labor, as set forth in the Twelfth Claim for 

Relief;  

c. Whether Employer Defendants knew or should have known 

that such venture engaged in a violation of Chapter
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that apply generally to the EBRPSS Teacher Subclass, so that declaratory relief and 

final injunctive relief are appropriate with respec
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i. Baseless lawsuits filed by Defendant Universal against a 

few EBRPSS Subclass members, which constitute an abuse of legal process in 

furtherance of Recruiter Defendants’ trafficking scheme, as described below; and  

ii. An administrative hearing at the Louisiana Workforce 

Commission, which via opinion dated April 14, 2010 concluded that Defendant 

Universal was not properly licensed under the Louisiana Private Employment 

Services Law, but did not rule on the validity of the contracts themselves, finding 

this was outside of its jurisdictional  of t
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83. 
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the recruitment of highly qualified teachers from the Philippines, and placement of 

these teachers within school districts in the United States.  Recruiter Defendants 

also claimed to specialize in teachers of special education, math, and science.   

92. At all relevant times, Recruiter Defendants were operating as an 

“employment service” within Louisiana as that term is defined by Section 23:101 of 

the Louisiana Revised Statutes.  

93. At no time did any Recruiter Defendant become licensed as an 

employment service, as required by Section 23:104 of the Louisiana Revised 

Statutes.  

94. 
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Pursuant to this joint venture, Employer Defendants and the non-defendant 
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instruct the U.S. Embassy to have their passports delivered directly to Recruiter 

Defendants’ office in the Philippines rather than to Plaintiffs’ and other Class 

Members’ home addresses.  

116. Plaintiffs’ and other Class Members’ visas were approved, and their 

visas and passports were sent directly to Recruiter Defendants’ office in the 

Philippines.  

117. Recruiter Defendants retained possession of Plaintiffs’ and other 

Class Members’ passports and refused to return them to Plaintiffs and other Class 

Members.  Recruiter Defendants stated that Plaintiffs and other Class Members 

would receive their passports back only after they paid all fees imposed and 

Recruiter Defendants were ready for Plaintiffs and other Class Members to fly to 

the United States. 

5. Trafficking Step 5:  Recruiter Defendants Announce 
Previously Undisclosed Second Recruitment Fee (Three 
Months of Salary to be Earned in United States) and Fee for 
Airfare  

118. After Plaintiffs and other Class Members had already paid the non-

refundable First Recruitment Fee of between $5,000 to $5,500 in cash, which was 

well in excess of a year’s wages in the Philippines, Recruiter Defendants told 

Plaintiffs and other Class Members for the first time that they would have to pay a 

second and much larger recruitment fee, as well as the cost of their airfare to the 

United States.  

a. Recruiter Defendants explained, orally and through documents 

they required Plaintiffs and other Class Members to sign, that the Undisclosed 
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had been in the United States for one year. 

e. According to Recruiter Defendants’ records, Plaintiffs and 

other Class Members were required to pay from $6,300 to $12,000 to cover the 20 
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Class Member paid Recruiter Defendants aggregate fe
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a contract in the Philippines on Defendant Universa
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Defendants told them they could not leave the housing.  Upon information and 

belief, Recruiter Defendants required Class Members to reside in such housing in 

order to isolate them from the broader Filipino community and thus enhance their 

ability to control members of the EBRPSS Teacher Subclass.  

152. One member of the EBRPSS Teacher Subclass, Jave Pajuelas, 

approached his principal, Sherry Brock of the Westdale Middle School, to seek 

assistance in obtaining alternate housing that would be closer to the school where he 

was teaching.  Principal Brock informed him that she could not help him find 

alternative housing because it would upset and anger Defendant Lourdes Navarro.  

Mr. Pajuelas informed some of the other Louisiana Teacher Class Members of this 

conversation, and those individuals reasonably understood that if they tried to leave 

the housing Lourdes Navarro had selected, they would face possible punishment by 

Lourdes Navarro. 

9. Trafficking Step 9:  Visa Renewal Process  

153. H-1B visas are typically issued for three years, even if there is no 

guarantee that the job will last for the full three years. 

154. Upon information and belief, Recruiter Defendants, Legal Facilitator 

Defendants, Employer Defendants, and the non-defend
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handle obtaining and renewing H1-B visas for Plaint
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threatened teachers, including Plaintiff Mairi Nunag-Tañedo, that the teachers could 

be sent back to the Philippines if they did not obey her instructions.  Lourdes 
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Members by, inter alia, threatening to sue, and suing, Class Members who voiced 

criticisms about Recruiter Defendants’ trafficking scheme: 

a. In 2008, individuals voiced complaints about Defendants on a 

blog named “Pinoy Teachers Hub.”  In retaliation against the bloggers, Defendant 

Lourdes Navarro and Defendant Universal sued teache
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to pay the exorbitant fees demanded by Recruiter Defendants, as detailed in ¶ 179.b, 

infra
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d. Employer Defendants were also aware of the various 

recruitment fees and related fees charged by Recruiter Defendants through their 

trafficking scheme.  Upon information and belief, Employer Defendants were told 

of the exorbitant fees in or before November 2007, again in April 2008, and many 

times thereafter.   

177. Employer Defendants were aware by no later than May 2008 that the 
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180. 
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were required to be paid by the employer and not the employee.  In particular, the 

H-1B Filing Fee form states that the $320 filing fee and the $500 anti-fraud fee 

must be paid by the U.S. employer.  Upon information and belief, an H-1B Filing 

Fee form was submitted with each and every I-129 Petition for a Nonimmigrant 

Worker prepared by Legal Facilitator Defendants and Defendant Universal on 

behalf of Defendant EBRPSS and the non-defendant Louisiana School Districts. 

192. On or about March 28, 2008, at the Waterfront Hotel in Cebu City, 

Philippines, Defendant Lourdes Navarro informed Plaintiff Nunag-Tañedo that she 

would need to pay $3,920 for her visa.  Lourdes Navarro failed to inform Nunag-

Tañedo that part of this fee was the obligation of her petitioner, Defendant 

EBRPSS.  Nunag-Tañedo reasonably relied on this omission, and paid the entire fee 

to Defendant PARS. 

193. On or about July 16, 2007, at the PARS office in Quezon City, 

Manila, Philippines, Defendant Villarba informed Plaintiff Cruz that she would 

need to pay $3,920 for her visa.  Villarba failed to inform Cruz that part of this fee 

was the obligation of her petitioner, Defendant EBRPSS.  Cruz reasonably relied on 

this omission, and paid the entire fee to Defendant PARS.   

194. On or about March 28, 2008, at the Waterfront Hotel in Cebu City, 

Philippines, Defendant Lourdes Navarro informed Plaintiff Escuadra that she would 

need to pay $3,920 for her visa.  Lourdes Navarro failed to inform Escuadra that 

part of this fee was the obligation of her petitioner, Defendant EBRPSS.  Escuadra 

reasonably relied on this omission, and paid the entire fee to Defendant PARS.  

195. On or about June 27, 2008, in a restaurant near the PARS office in 
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threatened abuse of law or legal process and by means of a scheme, pattern, or plan 

intended to cause the Plaintiffs and other Class Members to believe that, if he or she 

did not perform the labor, he or she would suffer serious harm.   

207. As set forth ¶¶ 165–173, supra, Legal Facilitator Defendants 

knowingly provided the labor of Plaintiffs and othe
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Plaintiffs and other EBRPSS Subclass Members are likewise “persons” with 

standing to sue within the meaning of 18 U.S.C. §§ 1961(3) and 1964(c). 

227. 
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Employer Defendants and the non-Defendant Louisiana School Districts. 

231. The RICO Enterprise is engaged in interstate commerce in that its 

activities and transactions relating to the international and interstate movement of 

workers through the procuring of H-1B visas affect interstate commerce, and 

frequently require travel and communications across state and international lines. 

232. The members of the RICO Enterprise function as a continuing unit.  

233. RICO Defendants have violated 18 U.S.C. § 1962(c) because they are 

associated with an enterprise (the association-in-fact of all the Defendants) engaged 

in, or the activities which affect, interstate commerce and have, directly or 

indirectly, conducted or participated in the conduct of an enterprise’s affairs through 

a pattern of racketeering activity. 

234. RICO Defendants have violated 18 U.S.C. § 1962(d) by conspiring to 

violate 18 U.S.C. § 1962(c). 

235. Specifically, RICO Defendants conducted or participated in and/or 

conspired to conduct the affairs of the RICO Enterprise by engaging in the 

following predicate acts of racketeering activity under 18 U.S.C. § 1961(1):  

a. Forced labor in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 1589; 

b. Trafficking persons with respect to forced labor in violation of 

18 U.S.C § 1590;  

c. Unlawful document-related practices in furtherance of 

trafficking in violation of 18 U.S.C § 1592(a); 

d. Mail fraud to further their unlawful scheme in violation of 18 

U.S.C. § 1341;  
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committing and/or conspiring to commit multiple predicate acts of document 

servitude in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 1592, and as set forth in the First Claim for 

Relief, ¶¶ 212–213, supra. 

Mail and Wire Fraud: 18 U.S.C. §§ 1341 and 1343  

240. As set forth in the preceding paragraphs, Recruiter Defendants 

conducted or participated in the affairs of the RICO Enterprise through a pattern of 

omitting and concealing, and/or conspiring to omit or conceal material information 

about the extent of recruitment fees as part of a scheme to defraud Plaintiffs and 
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knew that a number of Class Members would have to attend job fairs upon arrival in 

Louisiana and would not have secure offers of employment, even after paying 

enormous fees to the Recruiter Defendants.  

280. Plaintiffs and other Class Members were unaware of the falsity of 

Recruiter Defendants’ representations.  In reliance
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284. The fees mandated by the contracts entered into between Class 

Members and Defendant Universal and Class Members and Defendant PARS are 

void and unenforceable because Class Members executed the contracts as a result of 

undue influence and coercion, including, inter alia: 

a. The contracts were presented to Plaintiffs and other Class 

Members without prior notice; 

b. Plaintiffs and other Class Members were forced to sign the 

contracts immediately, without an opportunity to deliberate or reflect on the terms 

of the contract, or to consult third parties about the terms of the contracts;  

c. Plaintiffs and other Class Members were threatened that if they 

refused to sign the contracts, they would not be allowed to go to the United States; 

and 

d. Plaintiffs and other Class Members were under severe threat of 

serious financial loss because of the substantial debt they had incurred to pay the 

First Recruitment Fee, described in ¶¶ 102–110, supra, which they had incurred 

before they were made aware of the terms of the contracts. 

285. The fees mandated by the contracts entered into between Class 

Members and Defendant Universal and Class Members and Defendant PARS are 

void and unenforceable because they were the result of undue influence and 

coercion.  

286. Defendant Universal and Defendant PARS were unjustly enriched at 

the expense of Plaintiffs and other Class Members’ when Defendant Universal and 

Defendant PARS collected invalid fees on their contracts with Plaintiffs and other 
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PARS or the contract entered into with Universal.  These fees include: 

a. The First Recruitment Fee, described in ¶¶ 102–110, supra, 

and 

b. Cost of one-way airfare to the United States.  

303. Collection of both the First Recruitment Fee and th
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